In the Supreme Court of the State of California

DICON FIBEROPTICS, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Case No. S173860

v.

FRANCHISE TAX BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendant and Respondent.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate Dist. Div. Eight, Case No. B202997 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC367885 The Honorable Mel Red Recana, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Attorney General of California
PAUL D. GIFFORD
Senior Assistant Attorney General
GORDON BURNS
Deputy Solicitor General
W. DEAN FREEMAN
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 73869
300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, CA 90013-1230
Telephone: (213) 897-2489

ISSUE PRESENTED

Revenue and Taxation Code section 23622.7 provides for a tax credit to employers that operate in depressed areas (called *enterprise zones*) and hire disadvantaged workers (called *qualified employees*). In addition to other requirements, an employer seeking to obtain the tax credit must obtain from one of several authorized entities, including the enterprise zone administrator, a *voucher* that certifies that its worker meets the statutory requirements to be a qualified employee. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 23622.7, subds. (a), (c)(1), (c)(2).)

The issue presented is:

When an employer seeks a tax refund from the Franchise Tax Board for allegedly hiring a qualified employee under Revenue and Taxation Code section 23622.7, and the employer's only supporting documentation is a voucher issued by an enterprise zone agency, is the voucher prima facie evidence that a worker is a "qualified employee" that shifts the burden of proof to the Board?

INTRODUCTION

California provides favored tax treatment for certain expenditures in the form of tax credits. Dicon Fiberoptics, Inc. (Dicon) filed a claim for refund with the Franchise Tax Board (the Board) seeking over \$3,000,000 in enterprise zone tax credits under Revenue and Taxation Code section 23622.7, which provides a tax credit for a portion of the wages paid by employers who operate in enterprise zones to their "qualified employees."

A "qualified employee" is one who works a required amount of time in an enterprise zone (\S 23622.7, subds. (b)(4)(A)(i)-(b)(4)(A)(iii)), 1 and who meets what is essentially a status test, which looks to whether the

¹ Statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless otherwise noted.

employee is eligible for certain federal or state job training programs, or meets one of several other similar criteria (§ 23622.7, subd. (b)(4)(A)(iv)).

In order to qualify for the enterprise zone credit an employer must also obtain a certification (or *voucher*) from one of several entities, including the local enterprise zone administrator, stating that a particular worker is eligible under one of the status tests. (§ 23622.7, subd. (c)(2).) Part of Dicon's claimed tax credit (approximately \$1,000,000) was based on employees for whom Dicon's only documentation of worker eligibility was a voucher issued by an enterprise zone administrator. The Board denied this portion of Dicon's claim.

Dicon then filed a tax-refund lawsuit in which it claimed that a voucher standing alone conclusively establishes that the subject worker is eligible. After the trial court granted the Board's demurrer without leave to amend, Dicon appealed. The Court of Appeal also rejected Dicon's argument, but nevertheless held that a voucher is prima facie evidence that shifts the burden to the Board to establish that the worker did not meet the eligibility requirements of section 23622.7, subdivision (b)(4)(A)(iv).

Under the lower court's interpretation of section 23622.7, in order to shift the burden to the Board, the employer is required merely to produce a voucher for the employee; indeed, according to the court below, the employer may discard all other supporting documentation that would establish the worker's eligibility. In fact, employers would be free even to discard documentation establishing that the worker was *ineligible*.

The appellate court's decision misinterprets section 23622.7 and imposes a rule that substantially increases the risk that tax credits will be allowed for employees that are in fact statutorily ineligible. A voucher is not prima facie evidence; rather, the voucher requirement and the voucher program are part of a process designed to conserve scarce Board resources by providing for an additional level of review that may in some cases, but

not necessarily all, relieve the Board of its need to audit, thus making the process more efficient for the Board, employees, and employers.

The court's decision is incorrect because: (1) it violates the general historical rule that the taxpayer has the burden of proof in tax-refund cases; (2) it is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute; (3) it violates other rules of statutory construction, particularly the rule that tax credit statutes must be strictly and narrowly construed against the taxpayer; (4) it is inconsistent with the legislative history; (5) it violates article XIII, section 32 of the California Constitution; and (5) it is contrary to the rule that tax-refund actions are trials de novo in the superior court.

STATEMENT

To encourage economic growth in areas that suffer from persistent unemployment, the Legislature enacted the Enterprise Zone Act, Government Code section 7070 et seq., which allows local governments to apply for and to obtain enterprise zone designation for economically depressed areas. (Gov. Code, §§ 7072, subd. (d), 7073, subds. (a) and (b).) Section 23622.7 provides a tax credit for enterprise zone businesses that hire eligible disadvantaged workers, or "qualified employees." The credit is between 10% and 50% of the wages of the employee, depending on the length of time he or she has been employed. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 23622.7, subd. (a).)

Section 23622.7, subdivision (b)(4) defines a "qualified employee" as one who meets two separate types of statutory criteria. One generally limits the type and place of employment. (§ 23622.7, subds. (b)(4)(A)(i)-(b)(4)(A)(iii).) The other, which is essentially a status requirement, looks to whether the employee is eligible for certain federal or state job training programs, or is a dislocated worker, or meets one of various other similar criteria. (§ 23622.7, subd. (b)(4)(A)(iv).)

Section 23622.7, subdivision (c)(1) requires that an employer seeking to obtain the enterprise zone tax credit must obtain a certification from one of several entities, including the local enterprise zone administrator, stating that a particular employee is "qualified," that is, that the worker meets one of the statutory status tests under section 23622.7, subdivision (b)(4)(A)(iv)). (§ 23622.7, subd. (c)(1).)² These certifications are typically referred to as *vouchers* and must be retained by the employer and presented to the Board upon request. (§ 23622.7, subd. (c)(2).)

Dicon does business in an enterprise zone. (Slip op. at p. 4; AA at p. 17, lns. 9-12.)³ In November 2003, it filed an amended tax return for its taxable year ending March 31, 2001—which is treated by law as a claim for refund pursuant to section 19322—in which it claimed over \$3 million in enterprise zone tax credits. (AA at p. 15, lns. 9-12.) The Board audited Dicon's return and denied approximately \$1 million of the \$3 million claim. (AA at p. 19, lns. 5-6.) The Board denied the portion of the claim that was for those wages paid to employees for which the only documentation of worker eligibility Dicon provided was a voucher issued by an enterprise zone administrator. (AA at p. 18, lns. 7-21.)

Although enterprise zone administrators are established by statute, they often function more like a trade group or marketing organization whose primary function is to attract and accommodate enterprise zone employers. (See Gov. Code, §§ 7076, subds. (a)(1)(B) and (C), 7076.1,

² Effective August 16, 2004, and continuing thereafter, the provisions of section 23622.7, subdivision (c), were amended to change the entities authorized to issue vouchers. (Stats. 2004, c. 225 (S.B. 1097).)

³ The designation "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix filed in the Court of Appeal. References thereto are indicated by "AA at p. [page], ln. [line]."

subd. (b).) And while there are significant statutory restrictions upon employee eligibility for the tax credit, at the time the vouchers were issued in this case there were *no* statutory or regulatory requirements regarding the documentation required to obtain or issue a voucher. In addition, there is no requirement for an agency that issues vouchers to communicate at all with the employees for whom it is requested to supply vouchers, and vouchers may be retroactively issued years after the employment takes place.

Nor, until new regulations that became effective November 27, 2006, was there even a requirement that enterprise zone agencies keep voucher records. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 25, § 8463, subd. (a)(1).) However, although these new regulations in one section tightened the record keeping requirements, in another section they allowed zone administrators to delegate the issuance of vouchers to any other person or entity they chose. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 25, § 8463, subd. (a)(7) [governing body of the zone "may designate a third party entity to process voucher applications"].)⁴

After Dicon's administrative claim was denied, it filed a tax-refund action against the Board in the superior court under section 19382. (AA at p. 3, lns. 21-23.) Dicon's suit alleged that the Board had wrongfully refused to accept its vouchers as conclusively establishing employee eligibility, but instead demanded evidence thereof. (AA at p. 18, lns. 7-9.)

⁴ Reports of voucher irregularities, or worse, have been widely circulated. (Evan Halper, *State Tax Breaks Benefits Companies, Not Workers*, L.A. Times, Jan. 31, 2006, at 1, available at 2006 WLNR 6950200.) And an audit of the Oakland enterprise zone conducted by the former Technology, Trade and Commerce Agency concluded that the "vouchering agent maintained inadequate records that were insufficiently documented or missing, failed to independently verify supporting source documents, and erroneously issued vouchers to ineligible employees." (See *In the Matter of the Appeal of Deluxe Corp.* (Dec. 12, 2006, No. 297128) (2006-SBE-003 at pp. 6-7) 2006 Cal.Tax Lexis 432 (*Deluxe*).)

Dicon did not allege that its employees met the eligibility requirements of section 23622.7, subdivision (b)(4)(A)(iv); instead it claimed that the Board erred in the audit, by rejecting Dicon's vouchers and by "creat[ing] an additional administrative burden on the taxpayer" (AA at p. 18, ln. 22 – p. 19, ln. 4.) Under Dicon's interpretation of section 23622.7, enterprise zone vouchers conclusively establish eligibility, and the Board is barred from auditing or looking behind the vouchers and therefore from requiring evidence of worker eligibility.

The Board demurred. It argued, among other things, that taxpayers have the burden of proof in tax-refund suits "not only to demonstrate the Board's determination is incorrect, but also to allege facts from which a proper tax determination can be made " (AA at p. 36, lns. 15-18.) Since Dicon's complaint admitted that it had nothing other than its vouchers to establish that its workers were "qualified employees" under section 23622.7, the Board argued that Dicon could not as a matter of law establish its right to a refund and that the demurrer should therefore be granted without leave to amend. (AA at p. 37, lns. 10-17.) The Board also argued that nothing in section 23622.7 barred it from looking behind the vouchers and requiring employers to provide evidence that their workers met the statutory eligibility requirements. (AA at p. 37, ln. 18 – p. 38, ln. 7.) In addition, the Board argued that tax credit statutes must be strictly and narrowly construed against the taxpayer. (AA at p. 42, ln. 12 to p. 43, ln. 2.) The trial court sustained the Board's demurrer without leave to amend. (AA at pp. 240-241.)

Dicon appealed, again arguing that under section 23622.7 vouchers conclusively establish worker eligibility and are binding on the Board. (Slip op. at p. 7.) Shortly after oral argument, the Court of Appeal ordered the parties to submit letter briefs on the previously unraised issue of whether "the voucher [should] be prima facie evidence that the taxpayer

was entitled to receive the voucher, thus placing on the board the burden of proving that the voucher does not support the taxpayer receiving a tax credit." (See slip op. at p. 7, fn. 6.) The Board argued, among other things, that interpreting section 23622.7 in a way that would make vouchers prima facie evidence would impermissibly relieve the taxpayer of its historical burden of proof, was contrary to the plain language of the section, was contrary to other rules of statutory construction (primarily the long-standing rule that tax credit statutes are narrowly construed against the taxpayer), and was inconsistent with the relevant legislative history. The Board also argued that a rule establishing an evidentiary presumption and accompanying shift in the burden of proof at the audit stage violates the constitutional provision against prepayment tax litigation in article XIII, section 32 and is contrary to the rule that tax-refund actions are trials de novo in the superior court.

Although the Court of Appeal correctly rejected Dicon's interpretation of section 23622.7 that vouchers conclusively establish worker eligibility, it did hold that "vouchers are prima facie proof a worker is a 'qualified employee,' but [the Board] may audit such vouchers" and that "[i]n such an audit, [the Board] bears the burden of rebutting the voucher's prima facie value" (Slip op. at p. 7.) The court acknowledged that the Legislature understands how to designate something as prima facie evidence, and that it did not do so here, but the court dismissed this omission as "legislative oversight." (Slip op. at p. 11, fn. 9.) The court also held that an employer may discard all relevant documents other than the voucher, and no adverse inference arises when an employer does so. (*Id.* at p. 12, fn. 10.)

On August 19, 2009, this Court granted review.

ARGUMENT

- I. A VOUCHER ISSUED BY AN ENTERPRISE ZONE IS NOT PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE THAT A WORKER IS A "QUALIFIED EMPLOYEE" UNDER REVENUE AND TAXATION CODE SECTION 23622.7, AND IT DOES NOT SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO THE BOARD
 - A. In Tax-Refund Actions, the Law Places the Burden of Proof on Taxpayers.

In tax litigation, the burden of proof has historically fallen on taxpayers. In *Lewis v. Reynolds* (1932) 284 U.S. 281, the Supreme Court of the United States explained that: "The action to recover on a claim for refund is in the nature of an action for money had and received, and it is incumbent upon the claimant to show that the United States has money which belongs to him." (*Id.* at p. 283.) In *United States v. Janis* (1996) 428 U.S. 433, the high court also noted that "[i]n a refund suit the taxpayer bears the burden of proving the amount he is entitled to recover." (*Id.* at p. 440.) In *Cook v. United States* (2000) 46 Fed.Cl. 110, the Court of Federal Claims noted that the rule may have had its "genesis as early as 1836, when the Supreme Court 'recognized the existence of a right of action against a Collector of Customs for a refund of duties illegally assessed and paid under protest." (*Id.* at p. 116, fn. 15; citation omitted.) It is clear that the rule has a firm foundation in federal law.

The same rule exists in California. In 1941, in a case where the Franchise Tax Commissioner utilized a formula to allocate the income and deductions of a multi-state corporation, this Court explained that "[t]o rebut the presumption that the formula produced a fair result, the burden is on the taxpayer to make oppression manifest by clear, cogent evidence." (*Butler Brothers v. McColgan* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 664, 677; internal quotation marks omitted.) In 1947, the Court of Appeal followed the lead of the United States Supreme Court's 1932 *Lewis v. Reynolds* case and held, in *Pacific*

Fruit Express Co. v. McColgan (1947) 67 Cal.App.2d 93, that the taxpayer may "recover only if it be shown that more taxes have been exacted than in equity and good conscience should have been paid." (Id. at p. 96.) In 1948, the Court of Appeal explained, in *Todd v. McColgan* (1948) 89 Cal.App.2d 509, that "[t]he taxpayer cannot merely assert the incorrectness of a determination of a tax or the method used and thereby shift the burden to the commissioner to justify the tax and the correctness thereof." (Id. at p. 514.) In 1950, in a case challenging the constitutionality of a tax statute, this Court adopted the rule and language of the Pacific Fruit Express case and held that "the burden is on the taxpayer to . . . [establish] by clear, cogent evidence that more taxes have been exacted than in equity and good conscience should have been paid." (El Dorado Oil Works v. McColgan (1950) 34 Cal.2d 731, 744, citations and internal quotation marks omitted; see also Long Beach Fireman's Credit Union v. Franchise Tax Bd. (1982) 128 Cal. App.3d 50, 55 ["the burden of proof was on the taxpayer to show that the tax assessment was in error and that money paid should have been refunded"]; and Krumpotich v. Franchise Tax Bd. (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1667, 1671, rev. denied [taxpayer claiming a deduction bears the ultimate burden of proving facts to justify the deduction].)

The purposes of the rule imposing the burden of proof upon the taxpayer are simple and supported by common sense. As this Court has explained, as a matter of policy the person having the power to create, maintain, and provide the evidence should carry the burden of proof. (Morris v. Williams (1967) 67 Cal.2d 733, 760.) The Court of Appeal similarly explained in Honeywell, Inc. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1982) 128 Cal.App.3d 739, that the burden of proof is on the taxpayer rather than the tax agency or tax collector because it is the taxpayer who (1) creates the transaction which is the subject of the inquiry, (2) has the power to determine the nature of the transaction, (3) has the power to create and

retain detailed records or other evidence needed to prove its nature and proper tax treatment, and (4) has the power to destroy or conceal the records or other evidence which would establish the taxable nature of the transaction. (*Id.* at pp. 744-745.)

It is also a matter of fairness. In *Paine v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1982) 137 Cal.App.3d 438, the Court of Appeal explained that "[f]airness dictates that those persons responsible for paying the tax should maintain sufficiently complete records that the Board or other tax collecting agencies can determine if the correct amount of taxes have been paid." (*Id.* at p. 444.)

The factors discussed above are particularly important in an enterprise zone credit case. The employer certainly has more knowledge of its own employees' eligibility than the Board does. In fact, of the three entities involved, the employer, the voucher provider, and the Board, the only one that has no knowledge of the facts or control of the evidence is the Board. As a matter of policy, it is appropriate to place the burden on the employer because it controls the evidence of its employees' eligibility and can suppress or destroy contrary evidence. It is also fair given the Board's lack of control over the evidence. Moreover, in light of the checkered history of enterprise zones' voucher programs, following the general rule makes even more sense.

In the decision below, however, the Court of Appeal stated that eligibility documents are not ordinarily within the employer's custody and control. (Slip op. at p. 12.) This is incorrect. Nothing requires a vouchering agency ever to receive any documents from, or even have any contact with, a prospective employee. In fact, the Board is concerned that in many cases, if not most, the only documents a vouchering agency receives are from the employer. And nothing bars an employer (or even an agent working for the employer on a contingency basis) from directly

contacting voucher agencies and obtaining vouchers years after the fact.

The Board is also concerned that this practice is becoming increasingly common.⁵

The only exceptions to the general rule placing the burden of proof on the taxpayer are where the Legislature (or the electorate, in the case of an initiative) chose to shift the burden. For example, in lawsuits challenging property fees and assessments, article XIII D, section 4(d) of the California Constitution places the burden of proof on local government agencies. (Silicon Valley Taxpayers Ass'n, Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 445.) However, article XIII D, section 4(f) contains explicit language reversing the traditional burden of proof. It states that "[i]n any legal action contesting the validity of any assessment, the burden shall be on the agency" There is no similar language in section 23622.7.

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