#### No. S173860

## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

### SUPREME COURT FILED

FFR 1 6 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

DICON FIBEROPTICS, INC.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

FRANCHISE TAX BOARD,

Defendant and Respondent.

REVIEW AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT, Nos. B202997 Los Angeles County Super. Ct. Nos. BC367885

#### ANSWER BRIEF

THOMAS R. FREEMAN, SBN 135392
PAUL S. CHAN - SBN. 183406
BIRD, MARELLA, BOXER,
WOLPERT, NESSIM, DROOKS &
LINCENBERG, P.C.
1875 CENTURY PARK EAST, 23RD FL.
LOS ANGELES, CA 90067-2561
TELEPHONE: (310) 201-2100
Facsimile: (310) 201-2110

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

40

# B. While The Act Limits The Taxpayer-Employer's Burden of Production, It Does Not Remove Its Burden of Persuasion

### 1. The burden of persuasion lies with the taxpayer

The FTB argues that the Court of Appeal's ruling violates the traditional rule imposing the "burden of proof" on taxpayers by ruling that vouchers are prima facie evidence that a hired worker is a qualified employee. Opening Brief, p. 8. In making its argument, however, the FTB improperly uses the term "burden of proof" to mean both a burden of persuasion and a burden of production. If the term "burden of proof" is properly understood to mean only a burden of persuasion, it is clear that the Court of Appeal's ruling did not shift or otherwise reallocate that burden.

The FTB objects to the Court of Appeal's holding that if the taxpayer meets its burden of production by making a prima facie case that the hired workers were "qualified employees," the burden of production shifts to the FTB. That shifting of the burden of production is what happens in any case where the party with the burden of persuasion produces evidence sufficient (as a matter of substantive law) to make a prima facie case. The FTB's argument to the contrary is based on its improper usage of the term "burden of proof" to encompass burdens of both persuasion and production.

The term "burden of proof," as employed by the FTB, is ambiguous because it is used to describe two very distinct concepts. The first concept is "burden of persuasion," which "is the notion that if the evidence is evenly balanced, the party that bears the burden of persuasion must lose." Director, Office of Workers' Compensation Programs v. Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S. 267, 272 (1994). Burden of persuasion is the concept that is usually denoted by the phrase "burden of proof" and, in California and other jurisdictions, this is the correct use of the phrase "burden of proof." Id. at 273 (citing Powers v. Russell,

30 Mass. 69, 76-77 (1833) (L. Shaw, C.J.) ("the party whose case requires the proof of [a] fact, has all along the burden of proof")); Sargent Fletcher, Inc. v. Able Corp., 110 Cal.App.4th 1658, 1667 (2003)(California uses "burden of proof" to mean burden of persuasion).

The second concept is "burden of production," which is "a party's obligation to come forward with evidence to support its claim." *Director*, 512 U.S. at 272 (citing J. Thayer, EVIDENCE AT THE COMMON LAW 355-384 (1898). While the *burden of persuasion* does *not* shift, the *burden of production* shifts "once the party with this burden establishes a prima facie case." *Id.* at 273 (citing *Powers*, 30 Mass. at 76); *Sargent Fletcher*, 110 Cal.App.4th at 1168 ("once [the party bearing the burden of persuasion] produces evidence sufficient to make its prima facie case, the burden of producing evidence *shifts* to the other party to refute the prima facie case").

The Court of Appeal ruled that a taxpayer-employer's burden of production shifts to the FTB upon production of a voucher issued by a certifying agency because the voucher is prima facie evidence of the hired worker's qualified status. This is not a shifting of the burden of persuasion. The taxpayer always bears the burden of persuasion in a tax-refund case involving hiring credits, just as a plaintiff in ordinary civil litigation generally bears the burden of persuasion (except as to affirmative defenses). But if the taxpayer, like an ordinary civil plaintiff, presents evidence sufficient to make a prima facie case, the burden of production shifts to the FTB, as it shifts to a defendant in an ordinary civil case. Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 25 Cal.4th 826, 845-847, 849, 850-851 (2001).

Here, the taxpayer-employer, as the party with the burden of persuasion, bears the burden of proving every element of its claim. But, as for the qualified-employee element of the claim, the Court of Appeal held that the

taxpayer-employer meets its burden of production by presenting a voucher issued by an authorized agency. The determination that a voucher is sufficient evidence to establish the taxpayer's prima facie case is a determination based on substantive law, Section 23622.7(c). Cf. Aguilar, 25 Cal.4th at 851-852, 856-857 (explaining that the type of evidence necessary to make a prima facie case is a function of the underlying substantive law); Ghirardo v. Antonioli, 8 Cal.4th 791, 800 -801 (1994) (recognizing a fact-to-law application that requires "the exercise judgment about the values that animate legal principles" presents a "question [that] should be classified as one of law and reviewed de novo"). Thus, the voucher's prima facie value is based on a construction of the Act, including its explicit delegation of decision-making authority to the certifying agencies. The Court's determination that the voucher is prima facie evidence of a worker's qualified status is based on Section 23622.7(c), which states that that the taxpayer-employer meets its statutory burden of demonstrating an employee's qualified status by seeking and obtaining a voucher from an authorized certifying agency and presenting that voucher to the FTB.

The statute thereby defines the scope of the taxpayer-employer's burden in establishing the qualified-employee element. By meeting that burden of production, the taxpayer shifts to the FTB the burden of producing evidence sufficient to establish that the certifying agency could not have issued a voucher without abusing its discretion. This movement of production burdens is governed by the underlying substantive law. It does not violate the rule in tax refund cases that taxpayers bear the burden of persuasion.

# 2. None of the policy factors asserted by the FTB weigh against the prima facie value of vouchers

The FTB relies upon the "purposes" of the burden of persuasion as support for its contention that vouchers cannot be deemed to satisfy the

taxpayer's prima facie burden of proving the qualified status of its employees. Opening Brief, p. 9. The FTB cites this Court's decision in Morris v. Williams, 67 Cal.2d 733, 760 (4967), for the proposition that "as a matter of policy the person having the power to create, maintain and provide the evidence should carry the burden of proof." Opening Brief, p. 9. None of these three factors support the FTB's position.

First, the taxpayer-employer does not "create" the documentation necessary to establish that hired workers are qualified employees as defined under the Act. The employer must typically obtain documentary evidence supporting the employee's qualified status from the employee. Second, the documentation supporting the employee's qualified status is not required to be maintained by the taxpayer-employer. Once the supporting documentation is provided to the certifying agency, the statute expressly limits the employer's obligation to maintain documentation by requiring only that it maintain the voucher - not supporting documentation. As the FTB itself has recognized, this limitation on the employer's duty to maintain documentation serves two positive functions – it "minimizes intrusiveness into the employee's personal life and provides confidentiality for the employee since the agency that administers the public assistance program is the one that issues the voucher" and it "allows the employer (taxpayer) to retain less documentation to support a claim that an employee is a 'qualified employee," which reduces both the burden on the taxpayer-employer and the privacy risks created when employers maintain files with highly-confidential employee information. Slip Op., p. 12 (quoting Cal. Franchise Tax Board, analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1097 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) Aug. 18, 2004, as amended July 27, 2004, p. 3). Thus, by statutory design, the taxpayer-employer is not the person responsible for maintaining the evidence necessary to prove the employee's qualified status.

The *third* factor, that the person having the power to provide the evidence should carry the burden, is likewise inapplicable because the taxpayer-employer has the burden of providing the supporting evidence only to the certifying agency – not to the FTB. Again, by statutory design, the taxpayer-employer is relieved of the burden of providing anything to the FTB except the voucher.

Finally, the FTB contends that vouchers cannot be deemed prima facie evidence of qualified status because doing so would encourage taxpayer-employers to discard evidence supporting their employees' qualified status. Opening Brief, pp. 10-11 & n. 5. Building on that theme, the FTB argues that "[i]f the records [maintained by the taxpayer-employer years after receiving a voucher] are so deficient that a proper audit cannot be made, the defaulting record-keeping taxpayer should bear the consequences." Id., p. 11 n.5. Again, however, the FTB protests against an incentive created by legislative design. The Legislature plainly intended to discourage taxpayer-employers from maintaining sensitive records documenting the disadvantaged status of its qualified employees. That is why the statute requires taxpayer-employers to maintain only the vouchers, not the supporting documentation.

## C. The Ban On Prepayment Tax Litigation Is Not Violated By According Prima Facie Weight To Vouchers

The FTB argues that, if vouchers are given prima facie weight, taxpayers will be permitted to file lawsuits seeking to enjoin the payment of taxes before they are paid. The argument makes no sense. Article XIII, Section 32 of the California Constitution flatly bars the filing of legal actions seeking to enjoin the assessment or collection of taxes before payment of such taxes: "No legal or equitable process shall issue in any proceeding in any court against this State or any officer thereof to prevent or enjoin the collection of

any tax." Thus, no matter how meritorious a taxpayer's claim may be, no matter how strong or one-sided the evidence supporting the claim may be, a lawsuit simply cannot be filed before payment of the disputed tax.

The FTB argues that (1) the Court of Appeal's holding that vouchers are prima facie evidence of a hired worker's qualified status applies to FTB auditors during the audit process, so (2) if auditors do not recognize the prima facie weight of a voucher during a pre-payment audit, the taxpayer may file a lawsuit seeking to prevent or enjoin the collection of taxes based on the disputed tax credit. *Opening Brief, p. 29*. The simple and dispositive response is that no such action may be filed given the Constitutional ban against pre-payment litigation, a flat rule that does not depend upon the merits of the taxpayer's challenge. Thus, according a voucher prima facie evidentiary weight does not allow taxpayer to challenge the FTB's audit determination before payment of taxes.

# D. The *De Novo* Nature Of Tax Refund Actions Is Not Compromised By According Prima Facie Weight To Vouchers

A post-payment action for a tax refund is tried in the superior court on a de novo basis, not as an administrative writ. Opening Brief, p. 30-31. Thus, according to the FTB, the question of whether a hired worker meets the qualified-employee requirement is an issue that must be decided on a de novo basis at trial, without any deference to the certifying agency's determination. Id. Contrary to the FTB's assumption, according prima facie weight to the voucher, to effectuate legislative intent, does not compromise the de novo nature of a tax refund action.

"A prima facie showing is one that is sufficient to support the position of the party in question. (Cf. Evid.Code, § 602 [stating that a 'statute providing that a fact or group of facts is prima facie evidence of another fact establishes

a rebuttable presumption'].) No more is called for." Aguilar, 25 Cal.4th at 850-851. The prima facie weight accorded to a voucher is not inconsistent with the *de novo* nature of the tax refund action. The taxpayer bears the burden of persuasion that a hiring credit is valid, a burden that requires the taxpayer to establish that the hired worker is a "qualified employee." The Court of Appeal has merely decided, as a matter of substantive law under the Act, that the taxpayer meets its prima facie burden by presenting a voucher. The question of whether the evidence provided by a party is sufficient to meet its prima facie burden of production is a matter of substantive law. Aguilar, 25 Cal.4th at 851-852, 856-857 (holding that sufficiency of evidence to support antitrust conspiracy claim is based on an assessment of substantive antitrust law). Thus, whether a taxpayer's prima facie case is deemed to be established by presentation of a voucher, the hired worker's testimony, or other documentation, presents a question of substantive law - the resolution of which does not render the superior court trial anything other than a de novo adjudication.

The Court of Appeal properly ruled that the taxpayer-employer satisfies its burden of producing evidence to support the qualified-employee element by submitting a voucher issued by a certifying agency. By deeming the voucher prima facie evidence that the hired worker is a qualified employee, the Court of Appeal honors the Legislature's clearly expressed intent to (1) delegate discretionary decision-making authority to the certifying agency, whereby its determination is deemed presumptively controlling unless rebutted by affirmative evidence demonstrating that it would be an abuse of discretion to find the worker to be a qualified employee; and (2) relieve the taxpayer-employer from the burden of maintaining the documentation necessary to prove affirmatively the hired worker's qualified status. The Court

of Appeal, by finding that vouchers satisfy the taxpayer's prima facie burden based on the underlying substantive law, did nothing to compromise the *de novo* nature of tax refund disputes.

## III. THE FTB WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO CONTEST REVERSAL OF THE DEMURRER

The FTB's Opening Brief states, in its conclusion, that the decision of the Court of Appeal must be vacated and the judgment of the trial court, granting the FTB's demurrer without leave to amend, must be affirmed. Opening Brief, p. 34. The request to affirm the trial court's demurrer, however, is improper because the FTB does not argue that the Court of Appeal erred in ruling that Dicon's Complaint states a viable claim or that it erred in its alternative holding that Dicon may amend its complaint to allege a viable tax refund claim. The FTB has limited its argument before this Court to an issue resolved by the Court of Appeal solely for purposes of guiding the parties and the trial court upon remand.

The sole issues raised in FTB's Petition for Review concerns the propriety of the Court of Appeal's holding that vouchers are prima facie evidence of a worker's qualified status. *Petition for Review, p. 1.* This ruling was independent from the Court of Appeal's separate holdings that (1) the Complaint stated a viable claim for a tax refund; and (2) even if it did not state a viable claim as alleged, Dicon demonstrated that it could file an amended complaint stating a viable refund claim. *Slip Op., p. 7.* The single issue raised in the Petition for Review – whether a voucher is prima facie evidence of a hired worker's qualified status – was not necessary to resolution of the appeal on the merits. Rather, the Court of Appeal addressed the issue solely to provide the trial court and parties with guidance upon remand. *Slip Op., p. 7.* Thus, the question presented for review has no impact on the Court of

Appeal's rulings that the Complaint stated a viable tax refund claim or, alternatively, the Complaint could be amended to do so.

The FTB, having failed to address the merits of these rulings in their Petition for Review or Opening Brief on the merits, has waived the right to challenge those rulings. Rules of Court, Rule 8.520(b)(3) ("briefs on the merits must be limited to the issues stated in [the petition for review or order of the Court specifying issues] and any issues fairly including in them"); Tiernan v. Trustees of California State Univ. & Colleges, 33 Cal.3d 211, 216 (1982) (holding that issues not argued are deemed waived). Consequently, no matter how the question presented is resolved by this Court, Dicon will have the right to proceed with its case in the trial court.

### **CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, this Court must affirm the Court of Appeal's holding that vouchers are prima facie evidence of a hired worker's qualified status under the Act. But even if the Court were to reverse that ruling, the Court of Appeal's rulings that (1) Dicon has alleged a viable claim and, alternatively, (2) Dicon must be given the opportunity to allege a viable claim, are not implicated by this Petition for Review.